Status of Shale Geology: Information on Extent, Thickness and Depth of Shale Deposits

**Fuel Cycle Research & Development** 

Prepared for U.S. Department of Energy Used Fuel Disposition Patrick Dobson Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory September, 2012



FCRD-UFD-2012-000296

#### DISCLAIMER

This information was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness, of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. References herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trade mark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the U.S. Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the U.S. Government or any agency thereof.

FCT Quality Assurance Program Doc	ument Revision 1 08/19/2011		
App	endix E		
FCT Docum	ient Cover Sheet		
Name/Title of Deliverable/Milestone	Status of Shale Geology: Information on Extent, <u>Thickness and Depth of Shale Deposits</u> FT-12LB080702		
Work Package Title and Number	Regional Geology & Tectonic Hazard - LBNL		
Work Package WBS Number	1.02.08.07 /		
Responsible Work Package Manager	Hui-Hai Liu		
	(Name/Signature)		
Date Submitted $9-13-2012$			
Quality Rigor Level for Deliverable/Milestone	QRL-3 QRL-2 QRL-1 X/A*		
This deliverable was prepared in accordance with	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (Participant/National Laboratory Name)		
QA program which meets the requirements of DOE Order 414.1 NQA-1-20	000 🗌 Other		
This Deliverable was subjected to:			
Technical Review	Peer Review		
Technical Review (TR)	Peer Review (PR)		
<ul> <li>Review Documentation Provided</li> <li>Signed TR Report or,</li> <li>Signed TR Concurrence Sheet or,</li> <li>Signature of TR Reviewer(s) below</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Review Documentation Provided</li> <li>Signed PR Report or,</li> <li>Signed PR Concurrence Sheet or,</li> <li>Signature of PR Reviewer(s) below</li> </ul>		
Name and Signature of Reviewers			

\*NOTE In some cases there may be a milestone where an item is being fabricated, maintenance is being performed on a facility, or a document is being issued through a formal document control process where it specifically calls out a formal review of the document. In these cases, documentation (e.g., inspection report, maintenance request, work planning package documentation or the documented review of the issued document through the document control process) of the completion of the activity along with the Document Cover Sheet is sufficient to demonstrate achieving the milestone. QRL for such milestones may be also be marked N/A in the work package provided the work package clearly specifies the requirement to use the Document Cover Sheet and provide supporting documentation. This page is intentionally blank.

# CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION		
2.	DATA SOURCES		1
3.	ISOPACH AND STRUCTUR	RE MAPS	
	3.1 Appalachian Basin		4
	3.2 Black Warrior Basin		7
	3.3 Illinois Basin		
	3.4 Michigan Basin		
	3.5 Anadarko, Ardmore, ar	nd Arcoma Basins	
	3.6 Gulf of Mexico Basin		
	3.7 Fort Worth Basin		
	3.8 Permian Basin		
	3.9 Williston Basin		
	3.10 Powder River Basin		
	3.11 Denver Basin		
	3.12 Green River, Piceance,	, and Uinta Basins	
4.	CONCLUSIONS		
5.	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS		
6.	REFERENCES		

# FIGURES

Figure 1.	. Shale gas plays in the contiguous US. (EIA, 2011)2
Figure 2.	. Interval-thickness map for the Utica Shale, Appalachian Basin (Patchen et al., 2006)5
Figure 3	. Structure map for the top of the Trenton Limestone, Appalachian Basin (Patchen et al., 2006)
Figure 4	. Depth and isopach maps of the Marcellus Shale, Appalachian Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database
Figure 5.	. Isopach map of the Chattanooga Shale within the Alabama portion of the Black Warrior Basin (Pashin, 2008)
Figure 6.	. Depth and isopach maps of the New Albany Shale, Illinois Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database
Figure 7.	. Isopach map of the Maquoketa Shale Group in the Illinois Basin (Collinson et al., 1988). Thickness contours are in feet. Stippled areas represent where the Maquoketa crops out and where it is unconformably overlain by rocks younger than Silurian in age
Figure 8	. Structure map of the Antrim Shale, Michigan Basin (Wylie and Wood, 2005). Gas wells are depicted as red dots
Figure 9	. Isopach map of the Woodford Shale (Rottmann, 2000) 12
Figure 1	0. Depth and isopach maps of the Woodford Shale, Anadarko Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database
Figure 1	1. Oil and gas reservoirs in the Gulf of Mexico Basin (Pitman, 2008)
Figure 12	2. Isopach map for the Barnett Shale, Fort Worth Basin (Pollastro et al., 2007)
Figure 1	3. Depth and isopach maps of the Woodford Shale, Permian Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database
Figure 14	4. Depth and isopach maps of the Pierre Shale Williston, Powder River, and Denver Basins. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database. 17
Figure 1:	5. Isopach map of the Lebo Shale member of the Ft. Union Formation, Powder River Basin (Lewis and Hotchkiss, 1981)
Figure 1	6. Paleogeographic map of the Piceance and Uinta Basins, with isopachs depicting the thickness of the Green River Formation from the base of the Long Point bed to the top of the Mahogany oil shale zone (Mercier and Johnson, 2012)

# TABLES

Table 1	. Identified	data sources	for isopach	and structur	al data fo	or shale	formations	within maj	or
	sedimenta	ary basins							. 3

# ACRONYMS

- DEM Digital Elevation Model
- EIA Energy Information Administration
- GIS Geographic Information Systems
- LANL Los Alamos National Laboratory
- USGS U.S. Geological Survey

This page is intentionally blank.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The objective of this report is to build upon the compilation of shale formations within many of the major sedimentary basins in the US (e.g., Gonzales and Johnson, 1985; Dobson, 2011) by developing GIS data delineating thickness and structural depth maps for many of these units. These data are being incorporated into the LANL digital database being developed for determining host rock distribution and depth/thickness parameters consistent with repository design (Perry et al., 2011). Three main rock types are being incorporated into this database: salts, shales, and granitic basement rocks. This database can then be utilized for screening and comparison of potential repository sites (e.g., Rechard et al., 2011).

#### 2. DATA SOURCES

Most of the shale data are from sedimentary basins where oil and gas deposits are present (Figure 1). EIA (2011) estimates that around 750 trillion cubic feet of undeveloped technically recoverable shale gas and shale oil resources are in discovered shale plays in the lower 48 states. Formations that have been identified as having at least 20 trillion cubic feet (tcf) of shale gas include the Marcellus Shale (410 tcf), the Antrim Shale (20 tcf), the Haynesville Shale (75 tcf), the Eagle Ford Formation (21 tcf), the Fayetteville Shale (32 tcf), the Barnett and Woodford Shales (97 tcf), and the Mancos Shale (21 tcf). While many areas within these sedimentary basins are sites of active and prospective oil and gas exploration and development activities, there may be locations (such as within the shallower basin margins) that could be possible candidates for a repository.



Source: Energy Informati Updated: May 9, 2011

Figure 1. Shale gas plays in the contiguous US. (EIA, 2011)

The data used for this report represent information that were either digitized using ArcGIS from published isopach and structure maps, or were available as GIS shape files that delineate formation isopachs and structural surfaces relative to a known datum, such as sea level or the ground surface. Many data sources were obtained from the references listed in the discussions in Hovorka et al. (2003) of seal thickness and seal continuity for different saline formations in US sedimentary basins. Where maps were used to create GIS data layers, a jpeg version of the map was georectified using multiple geographic reference points (such as country or state boundaries) and the thickness or structure contours were converted to vector format. Where depths are referenced to sea level instead of the ground surface, DEM data are used. In the case of GIS data, metadata files were used to ascertain the geodetic reference datum used. In some cases, multiple data sources were used.

# 3. ISOPACH AND STRUCTURE MAPS

Maps of shale formation extents, thicknesses, and depths were obtained for the following units as organized by sedimentary basin. Table 1 summarizes formations for which isopach and/or structural data have been obtained. More comprehensive lists of shale formations can be found in Dobson (2011) and Gonzales and Johnson (1985). Units listed in *bold italics* represent formations for which GIS data have been obtained or generated. This report represents the current status of data collection: this is an ongoing process to populate the LANL GIS database.

Appalachian Basin	
Utica Shale	Patchen et al., 2006 (Plates 1-28 & 2-6) (GIS data obtained from West Virginia Geological and Economic Survey)
Marcellus Shale	Erenpreiss et al., 2011 (GIS data obtained from Ohio Department of Natural Resources)
Black Warrior Basin	
Chattanooga Shale	Pashin, 2008 (Figure 6)
Illinois Basin	
Maquoketa Shale	Willman et al., 1975 (Figure O-26); Collinson et al., 1988 (Figure 22); Kolata and Noger, 1990 (Figure 5-13); Bristol and Buschbach, 1973 (Plate 1)
New Albany Shale	Hasenmueller and Comer, 2000 (GIS data obtained from Illinois State Geological Survey)
Michigan Basin	
Eau Claire Formation	Catacosinos and Daniels., 1991 (Figure 6)
Antrim Shale	Wylie and Wood, 2004; 2005
Anadarko Basin	
Woodford Shale	Amsden, 1975 (Plates 3 & 4); Cardott and Lambert, 1985 (Figures 2 & 3); Rottmann, 2000
Sylvan Shale	Amsden, 1975 (Plates 7 & 8)
Ardmore Basin	
Woodford Shale	Party et al., 2008 (Slides 41 & 43); Cardott, 2012 (Figure 10); Rottmann, 2000
Arkoma Basin	
Woodford Shale	Blackford, 2007 (Plates 12 & 13); Rottmann, 2000
Gulf Coast Basin	

Table 1. Identified data sources for isopach and structural data for shale formations within major sedimentary basins.

Wilcox Formation	Pitman, 2008		
Eagle Ford Shale	Surles, 1987 (Figures. 5, 8, 9, 12, & 14); Pitman, 2008		
Smackover Formation	Pitman, 2008		
Fort Worth Basin			
Barnett Shale	Pollastro et al., 2007 (Figures 6 & 15)		
Permian Basin			
Woodford Shale	Broadhead, 2010 (Figures. 4 & 12); Comer, 1991 (Plates 1 & 2); Ruppel et al., 2005 (GIS data obtained from University of Texas, Bureau of Economic Geology)		
Williston Basin			
Big Snowy Group	Peterson, 1984 (Figure 12)		
Pierre Shale	Schurr, 1977 (Figures. 5 & 6)		
Powder River Basin			
Pierre Shale	Schurr, 1977 (Figures. 5 & 6)		
Lebo shale member, Fort Union Formation	Lewis and Hotchkiss, 1981 (Plate 3)		
Upper Hell Creek confining layer, Lance Formation	Lewis and Hotchkiss, 1981 (Plate 5)		
Denver Basin			
Pierre Shale	Schurr, 1977 (Figures. 5 & 6)		
Green River Basin			
Green River Formation	Mercier et al., 2010c		
Piceance Basin			
Green River Formation	Mercier et al., 2010a; Mercier and Johnson, 2012		
Uinta Basin			
Green River Formation	Mercier et al., 2010b; Mercier and Johnson, 2012		

# 3.1 Appalachian Basin

The Appalachian Basin is a composite foreland basin that contains a thick sequence of Paleozoic sedimentary rocks (Ettensohn, 2008). These rocks have been subjected to a number of orogenic events, resulting in faulting and folding. The Marcellus Shale has been the primary focus for numerous geologic studies (e.g., Lash and Engelder, 2011) because of its prolific shale gas resources.

GIS data were obtained for two major shale formations in this basin: the Ordovician Utica Shale and the Devonian Marcellus Shale. The Utica Shale GIS dataset was developed as part of a comprehensive regional stratigraphic study conducted by the Trenton-Black River Research

#### Status of Shale Geology: Information on Extent, Thickness and Depth of Shale Deposits September 2012

Consortium of the Ordovician Trenton-Black River carbonate system (Patchen et al., 2006). This study generated an interval-thickness map for the Utica Shale (Figure 2) and structural map for the top of the Trenton Limestone (Figure 3), which serves at the base of the Utica Shale. GIS data obtained from the West Virginia Geological and Economic Survey will be used to generate isopach and structure maps for the Utica Shale.



Figure 2. Interval-thickness map for the Utica Shale, Appalachian Basin (Patchen et al., 2006)



# Figure 3. Structure map for the top of the Trenton Limestone, Appalachian Basin (Patchen et al., 2006)

GIS data obtained from the Ohio Department of Natural Resources was used to generate isopach and structure maps for the Marcellus Shale (Figure 4). This unit has a total area of 95,000 square miles (EIA, 2011). While this unit is very extensive, and is present in Ohio, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Virginia, western Maryland and New York, there is only a limited area (in eastern Pennsylvania) where the shale thickness is at least 100 m at depths less than 1000 m.



Figure 4. Depth and isopach maps of the Marcellus Shale, Appalachian Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database.

## 3.2 Black Warrior Basin

The Black Warrior Basin is a Paleozoic foreland basin located in Alabama and Mississippi (Thomas, 1988). It has three major shale formations: the Devonian Chattanooga Shale, the Mississippian Floyd Shale, and shale layers in the Pennsylvanian Pottsville Formation (Pawlewicz and Hatch, 2007). These shales have been identified as the source rocks for oil and gas deposits in the basin. Pashin (2008) has created an isopach map within the state of Alabama for the Chattanooga Shale (Figure 5). Almost all of the mapped section of the Chattanooga has a thickness less than 30 m.



Figure 5. Isopach map of the Chattanooga Shale within the Alabama portion of the Black Warrior Basin (Pashin, 2008)

## 3.3 Illinois Basin

The Illinois Basin is filled primarily with Paleozoic age rocks, consisting of interbedded siliclastic and carbonate sediments (Collinson et al., 1988; Swezey, 2009). The Devonian to Mississippian New Albany Shale is the most prominent shale unit in the Illinois Basin, with an areal extent of about 43,500 square miles and a thickness of 100 to 300 ft (Hasenmueller and Comer, 1994; EIA, 2011). GIS data for this unit (Figure 6) is available over the entire basin (Hasenmueller and Comer, 2000). In the southern portion of the Illinois basin, there is a small section of this unit with thicknesses greater than 100 m at a depth of less than 1000 m.



Figure 6. Depth and isopach maps of the New Albany Shale, Illinois Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database.

There are a number of studies with thickness and/or structural depth information on the Ordovician Maquoketa Shale. Bristol and Buschbach (1973) provide a plate depicting the top of the Galena Group, which represents the base of the Maquoketa Shale, for the state of Illinois. Willman et al. (1975) present a figure depicting the thickness of the Maquoketa Group, also restricted to Illinois. More regional depictions of the thickness of this unit (Figure 7) are presented by Collinson et al. (1988) and Kolata and Noger (1990). Given that this unit is older than the New Albany Shale, it is encountered at greater depths.

#### Report on development of critical field testing and site characterization techniques September 2012



Figure 7. Isopach map of the Maquoketa Shale Group in the Illinois Basin (Collinson et al., 1988). Thickness contours are in feet. Stippled areas represent where the Maquoketa crops out and where it is unconformably overlain by rocks younger than Silurian in age.

#### 3.4 Michigan Basin

The Michigan Basin has a thick sequence of Paleozoic evaporites, carbonates, and siliclastic sedimentary rocks (Catacosinos et al., 1991; Swezey, 2008). Shale formations found in this basin include the Ordovician Utica and Collingwood Shales, the Silurian Cabot Head and Pointe aux Chenes Shales, the Devonian Antrim, Ellsworth, and Bedford Shales and the Mississippian Sunbury and Coldwater Shales. The predominant shale formation in the Michigan Basin is the Antrim Shale, a major producer of natural gas, with estimated recoverable shale gas resources of 20 trillion cubic feet (EIA, 2011). Wylie and Wood (2004; 2005) generated GIS structure and isopach maps for a number of the hydrocarbon producing units in the Michigan Basin, including the Antrim Shale (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Structure map of the Antrim Shale, Michigan Basin (Wylie and Wood, 2005). Gas wells are depicted as red dots.

# 3.5 Anadarko, Ardmore, and Arcoma Basins

The Anadarko, Ardmore, and Arcoma Basins, located in Oklahoma and neighboring states, are a series of fault-bounded sedimentary basins containing abundant hydrocarbon deposits. Detailed structure and isopach maps have been published for a number of the shale-bearing formations in these basins, including the Sylvan and Woodford shales (e.g., Amsden, 1975; Cardott and Lambert, 1985; Rottmann, 2000; Blackford, 2007; Party et al., 2008; Cardott, 2012). Rottmann (2000) has generated a comprehensive thickness map for the Woodford Shale for all of Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle (Figure 9). GIS data were generated from the structure and isopach maps of Amsden (1975) for the Woodford Shale within the Anadarko Basin (Figure 10).



Figure 9. Isopach map of the Woodford Shale (Rottmann, 2000).



Figure 10. Depth and isopach maps of the Woodford Shale, Anadarko Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database.

# 3.6 Gulf of Mexico Basin

Pitman (2008) generated a comprehensive GIS database of petroleum reservoirs in Gulf of Mexico Basin, including delineation of the Smackover, Eagle Ford, and Wilcox Formations (Figure 11). Surles (1987) constructed isopach maps for the entire Eagle Ford shale and its members, as well as compiled information on the amount of sand and organic matter.



Figure 11. Oil and gas reservoirs in the Gulf of Mexico Basin (Pitman, 2008)

# 3.7 Fort Worth Basin

The Mississippian Barnett Shale is a major producer of shale gas in the Fort Worth Basin. Pollastro et al. (2007) conducted a detailed geologic study of this petroleum system, and generated isopach and structure maps for the Barnett Shale (Figure 12).

#### Status of Shale Geology: Information on Extent, Thickness and Depth of Shale Deposits September 2012



Figure 12. Isopach map for the Barnett Shale, Fort Worth Basin (Pollastro et al., 2007)

# 3.8 Permian Basin

While the Permian Basin is dominated by carbonate and evaporite sequences, it also hosts some siliclastic units, such as the Woodford Shale. Broadhead (2010) conducted a detailed study of the distribution and source rock characteristics of the Woodford Shale located within the New Mexico portion of the Permian Basin. Structure and isopach maps for the Woodford Shale (Comer, 1991) were converted into GIS surfaces by Ruppel et al. (2005), and are depicted in Figure 13.



Figure 13. Depth and isopach maps of the Woodford Shale, Permian Basin. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database.

# 3.9 Williston Basin

The Williston Basin is an intercratonic basin centered in North Dakota with sedimentary rocks consisting of carbonates, evaporites, sandstones, and shales. These rocks range in age from Precambrian to Tertiary (Gerhard et al., 1982). Shale-bearing units within the Paleozoic section include the Ordovician Ice Box Formation and the Mississippian Bakken and Otter Formations. The Bakken Formation has upper and lower shale members and a middle sandstone member (Pollastro et al., 2008) and contains significant (3.59 billion barrel) reserves of oil shale (EIA,

#### Status of Shale Geology: Information on Extent, Thickness and Depth of Shale Deposits September 2012

2011). The basin also contains a sequence of Cretaceous shales, including the Skull Creek, Mowry, Belle Fourche, Carlile, and Pierre Shales. Shurr (1977) conducted an extensive study of the Pierre Shale as a possible host formation for radioactive waste. Isopach and structural maps from Shurr (1977) were used to generate GIS data (Figure 14).



Depth and Isopach maps of the Pierre Shale in the nothern Great Plains.

Figure 14. Depth and isopach maps of the Pierre Shale Williston, Powder River, and Denver Basins. Figure produced by LANL from shale data populated into the GIS database.

## 3.10 Powder River Basin

The Powder River Basin contains vast coal resources, consisting of thick deposits of subbituminous or lignite coal occurring at shallow depths. As part of a hydrogeologic study of this basin, Lewis and Hotchkiss (1981) generated isopach and structure maps for the Lebo Shale member of the Ft. Union Formation (Figure 15) and the Upper Hell Creek (or Lance) Formation.



Figure 15. Isopach map of the Lebo Shale member of the Ft. Union Formation, Powder River Basin (Lewis and Hotchkiss, 1981)

#### 3.11 Denver Basin

The Denver Basin is a foreland structural basin bounded to the west by the Rocky Mountains. Most of the sediments in the basin are Cretaceous sandstones, shales, and carbonates (Higley and Cox, 2007); the shale units include the Skull Creek, Mowry, Graneros, Carlile, Niobrara (Smoky Hills Shale Member), and Pierre. The Pierre Shale is the most prominent of these units, and its distribution and thickness (Figure 14) has been characterized by Shurr (1977).

## 3.12 Green River, Piceance, and Uinta Basins

The Green River, Piceance, and Uinta Basins are located in Wyoming, Utah and Colorado. These basins contain major shale-bearing intervals (USGS Southwestern Wyoming Province Assessment Team, 2005; Dubiel, 2003; Johnson, 2003; Kirshbaum, 2003; USGS Uinta-Piceance Assessment Team, 2003; Johnson et al., 2010). The oldest of these units is the Permian Phosphoria Formation, which contains organic-rich mudstones. These basins also contain a number of shales that are Cretaceous in age, including the Baxter, Hillard, Steele, and Lewis Mancos and Mowry Shales. Present in all three of these basins is the Eocene Green River Formation, which contains the world's largest oil-shale deposit, with about 1.2 trillion barrels of oil in place (Dubiel, 2003). The Green River Formation consists of interbedded oil shales (such as the Parachute Creek Member), organic shales, evaporites, siltstones, sandstones, and mudstones. The USGS has generated GIS data that maps the thickness and structure of different members of the Green River Formation in these three basins as part of an oil shale resource assessment (Mercier et al., 2010a, b, c; Mercier and Johnson, 2012). Figure 16 illustrates the thickness of the Green River Formation in the Piceance and Uinta Basins.



Figure 16. Paleogeographic map of the Piceance and Uinta Basins, with isopachs depicting the thickness of the Green River Formation from the base of the Long Point bed to the top of the Mahogany oil shale zone (Mercier and Johnson, 2012)

# 4. CONCLUSIONS

This report serves as an update report relating to the progress of obtaining shale formation extent, thickness and depth data for the LANL geologic database. GIS data have been obtained for many shale formations associated with shale gas, such as the Marcellus, Utica, Barnett, New Albany and Woodford Shales. Additional GIS data are in the process of being generated through the digitization of published isopach and structure maps. Continued efforts are being made to obtain additional GIS and map data for other shale formations that can be used to augment the GIS database.

## 5. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report represents a collaborative effort with Frank Perry and Rick Kelley of Los Alamos National Laboratory. They have scanned and generated GIS data from pdf versions of isopach and structure maps, and have uploaded existing GIS data into their database.

Many individuals generously shared their knowledge and data to help populate the GIS database. Steve Ruppel and Cari Breton of the University of Texas, Bureau of Economic Geology, provided us with their GIS dataset for the Permian Basin. John Bocan, with the West Virginia Geological and Economic Survey, provided us with GIS data for the Utica Shale that had been developed by the Trenton-Black River Research Consortium. Jim McDonald of the Ohio Department of Natural Resources shared with us a regional GIS dataset for the Marcellus Shale. Christopher Korose of the Illinois State Geological Survey provided us with GIS data for the New Albany Shale that was developed by the Illinois Basin Consortium. Jeff Zimmerman of the Susquehanna River Basin Commission provided us with some USGS GIS data for the Utica and Marcellus Shales. David Effert of the Louisiana Department of Natural Resources gave us access to GIS data for the Haynesville Shale. Brian Cardott of the Oklahoma Geological Survey provided us with additional references on the Woodford Shale and Sue Palmer (also of the Oklahoma Geological Survey) provided us with pdf copies of plates depicting the thickness and depth of the Woodford Shale in the Anadarko Basin. Sue Hovorka of the University of Texas, Bureau of Economic Geology, pointed us towards a study conducted by the Gulf Coast Carbon Center, which contains abundant information regarding seals (i.e., shales) in many sedimentary basins in the US. Jim Houseworth, Peter Persoff, and Frank Perry reviewed this report and their feedback was greatly appreciated. Editorial assistance was also provided by Helen Prieto.

Funding for this work was provided by the Used Fuel Disposition Campaign, Office of Nuclear Energy, of the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract Number DE-AC02-05CH11231 with Berkeley Lab.

## 6. **REFERENCES**

- Amsden, T.W., 1975. Hunton Group (Late Ordovician, Silurian, and Early Devonian) in the Anadarko Basin of Oklahoma. Oklahoma Geological Survey Bulletin 121, 214 p.
- Blackford, M.A., 2007. Electrostratigraphy, thickness, and petrophysical evaluation of the Woodford Shale, Arkoma Basin, Oklahoma. Master's thesis, Oklahoma State University, 84 p.
- Bristol, H.M., and Buschbach, T.C., 1973. Ordovician Galena Group (Trenton) of Illinois Structure and oil fields. Illinois State Geological Survey, Illinois Petroleum 99, 38 p.
- Broadhead, R.F., 2010. The Woodford Shale in southeastern New Mexico: distribution and source rock characteristics. New Mexico Geology, v. 32, pp. 79-90.
- Cardott, B.J., 2012. Thermal maturity of Woodford Shale gas and oil plays, Oklahoma, USA, International Journal of Coal Geology, doi:10.1016/j.coal.2012.06.004

- Cardott, B.J., and Lambert, M.W., 1985. Thermal maturation by vitrinite reflectance of Woodford Shale, Anadarko Basin, Oklahoma. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 69, pp. 1982-1998.
- Catacosinos, P.A., and Daniels, P.A., Jr., 1991, Stratigraphy of middle Proterozoic to Middle Ordovician formations of the Michigan basin. Geological Society of America Special Paper 256, pp. 53–72.
- Catacosinos, P.A., Harrison, W.B., III, and Daniels, P.A., Jr., 1991. Structure, stratigraphy, and petroleum geology of the Michigan Basin, Chapter 30, in Leighton, M.W., Kolata D.R., Oltz, D.F., and Eidel, J.J., eds., Interior cratonic basins: American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir 51, pp. 561–601.
- Collinson, C., Sargent, M. L., and Jennings, J. R., 1988, Chapter 14: Illinois Basin region, *in* Sloss, L. L., ed., The Geology of North America, v. D-2, Sedimentary Cover—North American Craton: U.S.: Decade of North American Geology: Geological Society of America, pp. 383–426.
- Comer, J.B., 1991. Stratigraphic analysis of the Upper Devonian Woodford Formation Permian Basin West Texas and Southeastern New Mexico. The University of Texas at Austin, Bureau of Economic Geology Report of Investigations No. 201, 63 p.
- Dobson, P.F., 2011. Survey of clay/shale formations in the US. In: FY11 Report on Unsaturated Flow and Transport, FCRD-USED-2011-000296.
- Dubiel, R.F., 2003. Geology, depositional models, and oil and gas assessment of the Green River Total Petroleum System, Uinta-Piceance Province, Eastern Utah and Western Colorado, Chapter 5 of Petroleum systems and geologic assessment of oil and gas in the Uinta-Piceance Province, Utah and Colorado, USGS Uinta-Piceance Assessment Team, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–B. <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-b/REPORTS/Chapter 5.pdf</u>
- Energy Information Administration, 2011. Review of Emerging Resources: U.S. Shale Gas and Shale Oil Plays. <u>www.eia.gov/analysis/studies/usshalegas/pdf/usshaleplays.pdf</u>
- Erenpreiss, M.S., Wickstrom, L.H., Perry C.J., Riley, R.A., Martin, D.R., and others, 2011. Regional organic-thickness map of the Marcellus Shale with additional organic-rich shale beds in the Hamilton Group included for New York, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia. Ohio Department of Natural Resources, Division of Geological Survey, scale 1 inch equals 52 miles.
- Ettensohn, F.R., 2008. The Appalachian foreland basin in Eastern United States. In: Miall, A.D. (ed.) The Sedimentary Basins of the United States and Canada, Vol. 5, Sedimentary Basins of the World. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p. 105-179.
- Gerhard, L.C., Anderson, S.B., Lefever, J.A. and Carlson, C.G., 1982. Geological development, origin, and energy mineral resources of Williston Basin, North Dakota. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin v. 66, p. 989-1020.
- Gonzales, S., and Johnson, K.S., 1985. Shales and other argillaceous strata in the United States. Oak Ridge National Laboratory report 84-64794, 594 p.

- Hasenmueller, N.R., and Comer, J.B., eds., 1994. Gas potential of the New Albany Shale (Devonian and Mississippian) in the Illinois Basin, Gas Research Institute Technical Report GRI-92/0391.
- Hasenmueller, N.R., and Comer, J.B., eds., 2000. GIS compilation of gas potential of the New Albany Shale in the Illinois Basin, Gas Research Institute Technical Report GRI-00/0068.
- Higley, D.K. and Cox, D.O., 2007. Oil and gas exploration and development along the front range in the Denver Basin of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming, in Higley, D.K., compiler, Petroleum systems and assessment of undiscovered oil and gas in the Denver Basin Province, Colorado, Kansas, Nebraska, South Dakota, and Wyoming–USGS Province 39: Digital DDS--69--P. U.S. Geological Survey Data Series ch. 2. 41 p. http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-p/REPORTS/69 P CH 2.pdf
- Hovorka, S.D., Romero, M.L., Warne, A.G., Ambrose, W.A., Tremblay, T.A., Treviño, R.H., and Sasson, D., 2003. Technical summary: Optimal geological environments for carbon dioxide disposal in brine formations (saline aquifers) in the United States. Gulf Coast Carbon Center, University of Texas, Bureau of Economic Geology, http://www.beg.utexas.edu/gccc/finalreport.pdf
- Johnson, E.A., 2003. Geologic assessment of the Phosphoria Total Petroleum System, Uinta-Piceance Province, Utah and Colorado, Chapter 9 of Petroleum systems and geologic assessment of oil and gas in the Uinta-Piceance Province, Utah and Colorado, USGS Uinta-Piceance Assessment Team, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–B, http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-b/REPORTS/Chapter\_9.pdf
- Johnson, R.C., Mercier, T.J., Brownfield, M.E. and Self, J.G., 2010. Assessment of in-place oil shale resources in the Eocene Green River Formation, Uinta Basin, Utah and Colorado: U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–BB, Ch. 1, 153 p. http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-bb/REPORTS/69 BB CH 1.pdf
- Kirschbaum, M.A., 2003. Geologic assessment of undiscovered oil and gas resources of the Mancos/Mowry Total Petroleum System, Uinta-Piceance Province, Utah and Colorado. Chapter 6 of Petroleum Systems and Geologic Assessment of Oil and Gas in the Uinta-Piceance Province, Utah and Colorado, USGS Uinta-Piceance Assessment Team, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–B, <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-b/REPORTS/Chapter\_6.pdf</u>
- Kolata, D.R., and Noger, M.C., 1990. Chapter 5: Tippecanoe I Subsequence Middle and Upper Ordovician Series. In: Interior Cratonic Basins, M.W. Leighton, D.R. Kolata, D.F. Oltz, and J.J. Eider., eds. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir 51, pp. 89-99.
- Lash, G.G., and Engelder, T., 2011. Thickness trends and sequence stratigraphy of the Middle Devonian Marcellus Formation, Appalachian Basin: Implications for Acadian foreland basin evolution. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin v. 95, pp. 61–103.
- Lewis, B.D., and Hotchkiss, W.R., 1981. Thickness, percent sand, and configuration of shallow hydrogeologic units in the Powder River Basin, Montana and Wyoming. U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Series, Map I-1317.
- Mercier, T.J., Gunther, G.L., and Skinner, C.C., 2010a. The GIS project for the geologic assessment of in-place oil shale resources of the Piceance Basin, Colorado. In: Oil shale

and nahcolite resources of the Piceance Basin, Colorado, U.S. Geological Survey Oil Shale Assessment Team, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS-69-Y, <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-y/REPORTS/69 Y CH 4.pdf</u>

- Mercier, T.J., Gunther, G.L., and Skinner, C.C., 2010b. The GIS project for the geologic assessment of in-place oil shale resources of the Uinta Basin, Utah and Colorado. In: Oil shale resources of the Uinta Basin, Utah and Colorado, U.S. Geological Survey Oil Shale Assessment Team, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS-69-BB, <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-bb/REPORTS/69\_BB\_CH\_4.pdf</u>
- Mercier, T.J., Gunther, G.L., and Skinner, C.C., 2010c. The GIS project for the geologic assessment of in-place oil shale resources of the Eocene Green River Formation, Greater Green River Basin, Wyoming, Colorado, and Utah, U.S. Geological Survey Oil Shale Assessment Team, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–DD, <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-dd/REPORTS/69\_DD\_CH\_3.pdf</u>
- Mercier, T.J., and Johnson, R.C., 2012. Isopach and isoresource maps for oil shale deposits in the Eocene Green River Formation for the combined Uinta and Piceance Basins, Utah and Colorado: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2012–5076, 85 p., 1 pl., <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2012/5076/SIR12-5076.pdf</u>
- Party, J.M., Wipf, R.A., Byl, J.M., Lawton, J., and Hill, J.M., 2008. Woodford Shale, Ardmore Basin, Oklahoma: A developing shale play. Oklahoma Geological Survey, Gas Shales Workshop, 51 slides. <u>http://www.ogs.ou.edu/pdf/GSPartyS.pdf</u>.
- Pashin, J.C., 2008. Gas shale potential of Alabama. 2008 International Coalbed and Shale Gas Symposium, Paper 808.
- Patchen, D.G., Hickman, J.B., Harris, D.C., Drahovzal, J.A., Lake, P.D., Smith, L.B., Nyahay, R., Schulze, R., Riley, R.A., Baranoski, M.T., Wickstrom, L.H., Laughrey, C.D., Kostelnik, J., Harper, J.A., Avary, K.L., Bocan, J., Hohn, M.E., and McDowell, R., 2006. A Geologic play book for Trenton-Black River Appalachian Basin exploration. DOE Award DE-FC26-03NT41856, <u>http://www.wvgs.wvnet.edu/www/tbr/docs/41856R06.pdf</u>
- Pawlewicz, M.J. and Hatch, J.R., 2007. Petroleum assessment of the Chattanooga Shale/Floyd Shale - Paleozoic Total Petroleum System, Black Warrior Basin, Alabama and Mississippi, in Hatch, J.R., and Pawlewicz, J.J., compilers, Geologic assessment of undiscovered oil and gas resources of the Black Warrior Basin Province, Alabama and Mississippi. U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS-69-I, chap. 3, 23 p. http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-i/REPORTS/69 I CH 3.pdf
- Perry, F., Kelley, R., and Woldegabriel, G., 2011. Regional geology and tectonic hazards FY 2011 Status Report. FCRD-USED-2012-000002.
- Peterson, J.A., 1984. Geology and hydrology of the Madison Limestone and associated rocks in parts of Montana, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Wyoming. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1273A, 34 p.
- Pitman, J.K., 2008. Reservoirs and Petroleum Systems of the Gulf Coast. AAPG Datapages GIS Open-File website. <u>http://www.datapages.com/AssociatedWebsites/GISOpenFiles/ReservoirsandPetroleumSyst</u> <u>emsoftheGulfCoast.aspx</u>

- Pollastro, R.M., Jarvie, D.M., Hill, R.J., and Adams, C.W., 2007. Geologic framework of the Mississippian Barnett Shale, Barnett-Paleozoic total petroleum system, Bend Arch–Fort Worth Basin, Texas. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin v. 91, pp. 405–436.
- Pollastro, R.M., Roberts, L.N.R., Cook, T.A. and Lewan, M.D., 2008. Assessment of undiscovered technically recoverable oil and gas resources of the Bakken Formation, Williston Basin, Montana and North Dakota, 2008: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2008–1353, 3 sheets.
- Rechard, R.P., Perry, F.V., and Cotton, T.A., 2011. Site selection, characterization, and research and development for spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste disposal. International High-Level Radioactive Waste Management Conference 2001, Albuquerque, NM, April 10-14, 2011, American Nuclear Society, 174-181.
- Rottmann, K., 2000. Isopach map of Woodford Shale in Oklahoma and Texas Panhandle. In: Hunton play in Oklahoma (including northeast Texas panhandle): Oklahoma Geological Survey Special Publication 2000-2, plate 2.
- Ruppel, S.C., Jones, R.H., Breton, C.L, and Kane, J.A., 2005. Preparation of maps depicting geothermal gradient and Precambrian structure in the Permian Basin: unpublished contract report prepared for the U. S. Geological Survey, 21 p. plus data CD.
- Shurr, G.W., 1977. The Pierre Shale, Northern Great Plains; A potential isolation medium for radioactive waste. U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 77-776, 27 p.
- Surles, M.A., Jr., 1987. Stratigraphy of the Eagle Ford Group (Upper Cretaceous) and its sourcerock potential in the East Texas Basin. Baylor Geological Studies Bulletin No. 45, 57 p.
- Swezey, C.S., 2008. Regional stratigraphy and petroleum systems of the Michigan Basin, North America. U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Map 2978, 1 sheet. http://pubs.usgs.gov/sim/2978/sim2978MichChart.pdf
- Swezey, C.S., 2009. Regional stratigraphy and petroleum systems of the Illinois Basin, U.S.A. U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Map 3068, 1 sheet. http://pubs.usgs.gov/sim/3068/illinoisbasin.pdf
- Thomas, W.A., 1988. The Black Warrior Basin. In: Sloss, L.L., ed., The Geology of North America, v. D-2, Sedimentary Cover—North American Craton: U.S.: Decade of North American Geology: Geological Society of America, pp. 471-492.
- USGS Southwestern Wyoming Province Assessment Team, 2005. The Southwestern Wyoming Province — Introduction to a geologic assessment of undiscovered oil and gas resources, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–D, Chapter 2, 34 p. http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-d/REPORTS/69 D CH 2.pdf
- USGS Uinta-Piceance Assessment Team, 2003. Petroleum systems and geologic assessment of oil and gas in the Uinta-Piceance Province, Utah and Colorado: U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS–69–B, Ch. 2. <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/dds/dds-069/dds-069-b/REPORTS/Chapter\_2.pdf</u>

- Willman, H.B., Atherton, W., Buschbach, T.C., Collinson, C., Frye, J.C., Hopkins, M.E., and Lineback, J.A., 1975. Handbook of Illinois stratigraphy, Illinois Geological Survey Bulletin 95, 261 p.
- Wylie, A.S., Jr., and Wood, J.R., 2004. Map views of the producing formations in Michigan, the Michigan Basin, U.S. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Eastern Section Meeting, Columbus, OH, Oct. 3-6, 2004.
- Wylie, A.S., and Wood, J.R., 2005. Historical production trends suggest remaining upside for E&D in Michigan. Oil and Gas Journal, vol. 103, issue 23.